MINUTES

MONTANA SENATE 54th LEGISLATURE - REGULAR SESSION

COMMITTEE ON JUDICIARY

Call to Order: By CHAIRMAN BRUCE CRIPPEN, on January 6, 1995, at 10:00 a.m.

ROLL CALL

Members Present:

Sen. Bruce D. Crippen, Chairman (R)

Sen. Al Bishop, Vice Chairman (R)

Sen. Larry L. Baer (R)

Sen. Sharon Estrada (R)

Sen. Lorents Grosfield (R)

Sen. Ric Holden (R)

Sen. Reiny Jabs (R)

Sen. Sue Bartlett (D)

Sen. Steve Doherty (D)

Sen. Mike Halligan (D)

Sen. Linda J. Nelson (D)

Members Excused: None

Members Absent: None

Staff Present: Valencia Lane, Legislative Council

Judy Feland, Committee Secretary

These are summary minutes. Testimony and

discussion are paraphrased and condensed.

Committee Business Summary:

Hearing: SB 13, SB 7
Executive Action: SB 26

{Tape 1: Side A}

HEARING ON SB 13

Opening Statement by Sponsor:

SENATOR MIKE HALLIGAN, Senate District 34, Missoula, began by asking the committee members to look at the amendment he drew up rather than the bill. He told the members that after consulting with local officials and department individuals, he felt that the amendment would be a better approach and that it essentially strikes what he did in the original bill.

SENATOR HALLIGAN explained that when individuals are given a traffic citation by local law officials, it goes into a JP or municipal court. They then have an appearance date. If the person forgets about it, in almost all cases, they issue a bench warrant. This requires the sheriff or city police to serve hundreds of warrants statewide for the smallest infractions, which is a waste of our law enforcement. He said that like his bill, in North Dakota, they physically take your license. This guarantees an appearance without posting bond, so the people make sure they show up, he said. He said that they have decreased their warrant site serving by 50 per cent. JP courts and law enforcement people are having to track drivers' licenses, and make sure they aren't lost, etc. So the better idea, he said, is to amend existing law that already deals with the same area. amendment, he said, revises the manner in which the person is given notice that driving privileges would be suspended if the person fails to appear in court. He asked Brenda Nordland, Department of Justice to give the committee an explanation of the amendment. It would include less paperwork, less involvement of law enforcement personnel, would be cleaner with less cost involved, he said.

Brenda Nordland, assistant Attorney General, Motor Vehicle Division of the Department of Justice appeared as neither an opponent or proponent. She explained that the current law gives the Department of Justice the authority to suspend a drivers' license of an individual who doesn't show up on a traffic citation or who doesn't pay an assessed fine, cost or restitution. The difficulty with the current law is that it only allows action to be taken if the individual signs a statement in court that advises them of the fact that their drivers' license was going to be suspended, or the court sends out a certified letter advising them of the action that will be taken if they do not comply with the orders to appear or an order to pay. A court appearance or a signed statement does not work with the individual who forgets completely about his citation and does not show up in court, she said. As to the non-payers, the way the law is applied, justice courts enter into an agreement or a contract to pay a fine that's beyond the current means of an individual with an acknowledgement that the drivers' license will not be lost, she said. The only other alternative is to send a certified letter out to the individual and the courts do not have the budget to do this.

She explained that this amendment would allow forms to be provided on the back of the citation at the time the individual is initially charged with the traffic offense. Then they would be apprised that if they do not appear, their drivers' licenses would be suspended by the department when the court notifies the Department of Justice of the non-appearance. Alternatively, she said, if they do appear and are unable to pay, the court can issue an order and serve that order by first class mail. This would advise them that if they fail to pay, their drivers' license would be suspended. Ms. Nordland said they some

deletions were made in current law because on non-use since 1987 in cases of criminal use of vehicles and failure to forfeit posted bond.

The other change, she noted, would be clarification that if a suspension occurs, the suspension will continue in effect until the court notifies the Department of Justice that the conditions causing the suspension, either non-appearance, or non-payment of possible restitution have been satisfied and the fine, reinstated in this amendment, has been paid.

Proponents' Testimony:

Jim Kembel, representing the City of Billings, spoke in support of the bill.

Charles Brooks, testifying on behalf of the Yellowstone County Commissioners said they were interested in any measure that would reduce costs in JP courts and district courts.

Bob Gilbert, representing the Montana Magistrates' Association, concurred with the amendment and supported the bill.

Col. Craig Reap, of the Montana Highway Patrol, spoke in favor of the amendment. He had been in touch with other law enforcement agencies and they support the bill also. The purpose, he said, was to cut down on the number of outstanding warrants and to facilitate the handing of non-payment of fines.

Opponents' Testimony:

Scott Restvedt, representing Valley Bail Bonds, Belgrade, Montana, said he had sent for the bill, and failing to get it in time, felt he had questions about the posting of the drivers' license in lieu of posting bonds, or did they go hand in hand, he wondered?

SENATOR CRIPPEN expressed regret to **Mr. Restvedt**, saying he hoped his questions would be answered in the hearing and offered him a copy of the amendment.

Mr. Restvedt said if it had been amended, he had no problems.

Questions From Committee Members and Responses:

SENATOR HALLIGAN answered SENATOR AL BISHOP's inquiry about the use of certified mail rather than using first class and the possible use of a bench warrant by saying that these are minor offenses and we should not have law enforcement wasting valuable time, so the notice would be the actual citation that would say, "if you don't show up, your drivers' license could be suspended. We will use first class mail, he said, if a person doesn't appear and is fined. If he doesn't pay by the date indicated, then the

judge will send by certified mail a letter to suspend the driving privileges.

SENATOR LORENTS GROSFIELD referred to Chapters 3 through 10. He inquired if the Senator was talking about parking tickets or moving violations?

SENATOR HALLIGAN said that they are moving violations, unlawful use of an identification card, size and weight violations.

SENATOR HALLIGAN answered, "No," in response to SENATOR GROSFIELD's specific question on whether parking tickets would be included in the bill.

SENATOR LINDA NELSON asked the Senator if someone failed to show up for a court appearance, would somebody go to them personally to ask for their license, or to physically remove the license, or did it mean that the license would be suspended, perhaps on a computer?

SENATOR HALLIGAN asked Brenda Nordland of the Department of Justice to answer.

Brenda Nordland explained that if they do not have physical possession of a license at the time they receive the notice of suspension, they notify them in the mail that the department has implemented the suspension and ask them to return the drivers' license to the division. If they were picked up again, they would show on the computer as suspended, she said.

SENATOR REINY JABS inquired if this would affect a person who had paid a bond.

SENATOR HALLIGAN answered, "No."

SENATOR BAER said that the original bill provided for restoration of the drivers' rights and license if the person makes good. He asked if this provision would be included?

SENATOR HALLIGAN said that it was already in the existing law on the back page of the amendment.

SENATOR BARTLETT questioned Brenda Nordland if it was contemplated that anyone who experiences this kind of suspension will have to pay the reinstatement fee?

Brenda Nordland told her that the bond requires the reinstatement fee be paid if the suspension occurs. She said that she might suggest to the courts in the lower jurisdiction that the Motor Vehicle Division act on the first instance of failure to appear by a simple letter.

Closing by Sponsor:

SENATOR HALLIGAN assured the chairman that he would respond to **Mr. Restvedt** to make sure his questions were answered and the chairman would be alerted to any opposition.

The purpose of the bill is to get back to individual responsibility, **SENATOR HALLIGAN** said. If a person is given a citation to appear in court, a person should not waste the time and duties of law enforcement.

HEARING ON SB 7

Opening Statement by Sponsor:

SENATOR TERRY KLAMPE, Senate District 31, introduced his bill entitled, "An act clarifying the Tolling of Applicable Statutes of Limitations Related to Medical Malpractice Claims."

SENATOR KLAMPE began his opening by explaining some definitions. The medical legal panel is method of alternative dispute resolution. We have a good reputation in Montana for having a good medical legal panel, he said. It's a required thing, he told the committee, that delivers expert opinion and makes recommendations on whether a suit is frivolous or worthy of being heard. In the event of tolling, what happens is the statute of limitations is put on hold, basically, he said, you could think of it as stopping the clock.

The bill deals with three areas of change the Senator told the committee:

- 1) Simple clean-up. With the exception of page one, lines 23 and 24, and lines 2, 3 and 7 on page 2, the rest is simply clean-up, he said.
- 2) The second area was an error in the statute printed two or three sessions ago, he explained, that deal with tolling statutes of limitation in the event that a defendant doesn't disclose an act of omission. He portrayed himself as a defendant who committed an act of omission. If he didn't disclose to the patient, or the plaintiff, that he did do this, then there would be a tolling of the statutes of limitation. SENATOR KLAMPE told the members that he would change the words from "plaintiff" to "defendant."
- 3) This area would be most important, he explained. This area deals with an addition to the statute and making it clear that in a case such a malpractice, which is really a negligence or act of omission error, and tolling, which occurs when there is an application of the medical legal panel to hear a case when the director of the medical legal panel precedes. The tolling, should not only be for the doctor, he explained, but for any party that's joined in the suit. Many times, he explained, it's

not only the doctors being sued, but the producers of products as well. The told the committee about a recent court case brought against Ethicon, Inc., that makes suture materials that he uses in his practice of dentistry. He thought that the bill was supported both by the Montana Medical Association and the Montana Trial Lawyers Association.

Proponents' Testimony:

Russell Hill, representing the Montana Trial Lawyers Association, pledged their support of the bill. They also submitted written testimony. (EXHIBIT 1)

Jerry Loendorf, speaking on behalf of the Montana Medical Association, lent their support to the bill. The new language in section two certainly clears up the ambiguity, he said.

Mona Jamison, representing the Doctors' Company, one of the primary medical malpractice insurers for physicians in Montana, explained why the change is important in view of the drafting errors of the past. In 1987 when the majority of the legislation was passed, most of the changes in this section dealt with shortening the statute of limitations in actions involving minors, she said. Her research indicated that at the time of the original drafting changes were made, they were made in the last sentence of sub-section 1 of the act, where the words, "alleged wrong-doer" were used in the place of "such person". In 1989 the head of legal division for the code commission noted that the reference to "him" in the last sentence did not make sense and tried to change the word to "defendant". Because of the various dynamics of the legislature and people not wanting their bills touched, the word "him" was referred back to the last reference in the statute in the discovery section which was "plaintiff." The word needs to be changed to "defendant," she said.

Opponents' Testimony:

None.

Questions by Members and Responses:

None.

Closing by Sponsor:

SENATOR KLAMPE closed the hearing on SB 13 with the recommendation of Do Pass.

EXECUTIVE ACTION ON SB 7

Motion/Vote: SENATOR STEVE DOHERTY MOVED SB 7 DO PASS. The MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY on oral vote.

EXECUTIVE ACTION ON SB 26

<u>Discussion</u>: SENATOR BRUCE CRIPPEN told the committee that the amendment adopted the previous day was inappropriate because it doesn't reflect the subject matter of the bill, and would therefore be subject to constitutional challenge.

Motion: SENATOR HALLIGAN MOVED TO RECONSIDER THE ACTION THE ADOPTION OF THE AMENDMENT DATED JANUARY 4, 1995, TO REMOVE THE LANGUAGE, AND TO STRIP THE AMENDMENT.

<u>Discussion</u>: SENATOR HALLIGAN advised the new members of the committee that one of the reasons that he and SENATOR DOHERTY asked questions about trying to get a rehearing on the bill if the amendment were adopted if that he felt they could then get a gray bill and the public would be notified; it would go through bills distribution and all the notices would occur. It won't happen that way, he explained, it won't be a gray bill, it will be an internal bill. The cleanest thing to do would be to go back and reconsider our actions, strip the amendment and decide straight up what we want to adopt.

Vote: The motion CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY on oral vote.

EXECUTIVE ACTION ON SB 26

Motion: SENATOR DOHERTY MOVED THAT SB 26 DO PASS.

Motion to Amend: SENATOR BARTLETT MOVED TO AMEND THE MOTION THAT SB 26 DO PASS AS AMENDED.

<u>Discussion</u>: SENATOR BARTLETT said that these amendments did not address the teleconferencing issue at all, and that she felt that issue should be included in the discussion. The amendments were the same other than the teleconferencing that were adopted the day before with the addition of a final sentence giving greater clarification to hardship cases and how they would be addressed, she said.

SENATOR GROSFIELD addressed the last sentence, "the hardship cases" was put in at his request. He was concerned that they might end up in a situation where counties might not budget for these kinds of youth situations because they would think that they could claim hardship and get state money. He wanted some kind of guidance to the Board of Crime Control so that they would consider the family history for budgeting money.

CHAIRMAN CRIPPEN explained to the committee that it would be a courtesy to ask the sponsor of the bill if they would agree with the amendments as proposed. He asked SENATOR EVE FRANKLIN if she

would agree with the bill as amended.

SENATOR FRANKLIN said she supported the amendments. The telecom issue is still outstanding, she said, having talked to Mr. Morris, apparently SENATOR KEATING had thought there were some other telecom bills in, but that they had been cancelled. She asked the committee if they would consider a committee bill to deal with the second issue of telecom.

CHAIRMAN CRIPPEN said that he thought it was incumbent upon those who proposed the amendments to find the proper form to do it. They should also go to SENATOR KEATING in Finance and Claims.

SENATOR BARTLETT re-addressed the telecom issue. The additional bill draft requests were cancelled because it was believed that it would be fit within this bill by this committee. She said she wanted the committee to take some responsibility on Mr. Morris's bill drafts being cancelled.

CHAIRMAN CRIPPEN said he believed that Mr. Morris is an experienced representative to this committee and that he would probably be back before the committee shortly.

SENATOR LARRY BAER asked for clarification on the amendment.

SENATOR CRIPPEN told him that it was gone.

SENATOR BAER asked if the motion by Sen. Doherty to pass the bill without the amendment is correct.

CHAIRMAN CRIPPEN said that was correct.

{Tape 1; Side B}

<u>Vote</u>: On **SENATOR BARTLETT'**s motion to amend the original motion by **SENATOR DOHERTY** was **PASSED BY A UNANIMOUS** oral vote.

Further Discussion on SENATOR DOHERTY's original motion:

SENATOR HALLIGAN told of the history of the bill. Four or five years prior to this, they tried to develop one of the most innovative juvenile detention systems in the country, he said, and they went out to local jailers, sheriffs and police, developing a system whereby 75% of the costs are reimbursed to make sure the child stays locally. They did not want to pay the costs of putting kids in jails that cost a lot of money, he said.

When SENATOR NELSON asked the question about the security of a child staying in a motel room, SENATOR HALLIGAN told her that it's what they tried to avoid transporting them off to another town. When extreme hardship occurs in a serious criminal offense, there are additional costs of detention where they are kept in secure detention, because there are no local secure detention facilities, and you don't want that, he said. It is

important that we keep the rural, local focus and only pay in extreme circumstances when the small community needs to be reimbursed. It would only be used when a child commits a heinous crime, perhaps in a once or twice a year situation, he explained.

SENATOR SHARON ESTRADA asked SENATOR FRANKLIN if the funding for this comes out of money already budgeted.

SENATOR FRANKLIN answered the current cost for detention is 9.1 per cent of the funding from the lottery proceeds. That's the same pot of money, she said. On SENATOR BARTLETT's amendment it says "based on funding available, after the board has funded the block grants, the board shall in case of extreme hardship." It is based on whether or not there's any money left out of that 9.1 per cent, the Senator said.

SENATOR BISHOP reminded the committee that this bill would expand the duties of the board somewhat and that in a couple of years they're probably going to be here again asking for more FTE's to handle these duties. In all cases, we should be aware beyond the immediate issues of what may be created, her admonished the committee.

<u>Vote</u>: The committee voted UNANIMOUSLY, by oral vote, to DO PASS SB 26 as amended in SENATOR DOHERTY's original motion.

EXECUTIVE ACTION ON SB 13

Motion: SENATOR HALLIGAN MOVED TO AMEND THE BILL, The MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY on oral vote.

<u>Discussion</u>: SENATOR GROSFIELD asked what the restitution fee for a drivers' license would be, and SENATOR HALLIGAN answered, "\$25.00". SENATOR GROSFIELD then asked if you would pay \$25.00 for a \$15.00 driving violation to get your license back. SENATOR HALLIGAN said that they would write a letter before they do that to give people an opportunity if they fail to appear. SENATOR GROSFIELD wondered why it was not included in the amendment when maybe some years down the road, some administrator may not have that understanding. SENATOR HALLIGAN didn't know if they should put that in the statutes.

Motion/Vote: A MOTION WAS MADE BY SENATOR BAER TO DO PASS SB 13 AS AMENDED. SB 13 as amended. By unanimous oral vote, the MOTION CARRIED.

ADJOURNMENT

Adjournment: CHAIRMAN CRIPPEN adjourned the meeting at 11:10 a.m.

BRUCE D. CRIPPEN, Chairman

JUDY FELAND, Secretary

BDC/jf

MONTANA SENATE 1995 LEGISLATURE JUDICIARY COMMITTEE

ROLL CALL

DATE 1-6-95

PRESENT	ABSENT	EXCUSED
	PRESENT	

SEN:1995

wp.rollcall.man

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT

Page 1 of 1 January 6, 1995

MR. PRESIDENT:

We, your committee on Judiciary having had under consideration Senate Bill 7 (first reading copy -- white), respectfully report that Senate Bill 7 do pass.

Signed:				
	Senator	Bruce	Crippen,	Chair

か13 file

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT

Page 1 of 2 January 6, 1995

MR. PRESIDENT:

We, your committee on Judiciary having had under consideration SB13 (first reading copy -- white), respectfully report that SB13 be amended as follows and as so amended do pass.

Signed:				
	Senator	Bruce	Crippen,	Chair

That such amendments read:

1. Title, lines 4 through 6.

Following: ""AN ACT"

Strike: lines 4 though 6 in their entirety

Insert: "REVISING THE MANNER IN WHICH A PERSON IS GIVEN NOTICE THAT THE PERSON'S DRIVER'S LICENSE OR DRIVING PRIVILEGES WILL BE SUSPENDED IF THE PERSON FAILS TO APPEAR IN COURT OR PAY ASSESSED FINES, COSTS, OR RESTITUTION AFTER BEING CITED FOR OR CONVICTED OF A MOTOR VEHICLE VIOLATION; AND AMENDING SECTION 61-5-214, MCA.""

2. Page 1, lines 10 through 25.

Strike: everything following the enacting clause

Insert: "Section 1. Section 61-5-214, MCA, is amended to read:

"61-5-214. Mandatory suspension for failure to appear or pay fine -- notice. (1) The department shall suspend the license or driving privilege of an operator a person immediately upon receipt of a certified copy of a docket page or other sufficient evidence from the court that the operator person:

(1)(a) is charged with or convicted of a violation of 61 5 302 through 61 5 306, 61 5 309, or chapters 3, 6, 7, 8, 9, or through 10 of this title or is guilty of a criminal offense and was driving or was in actual physical control of a motor vehicle when the offense occurred; and

(2) (a) (b) (i) failed to post the set bond amount or appear as ordered by the court or appear upon issued complaint, summons, or court order; or

(b) (ii) failed to forfeit the posted bond amount or, when assessed a fine, costs, or restitution of \$100 or more, failed to pay the fine, costs, or restitution; and

- (3) (c) received prior written notice, evidenced by a signed receipt for a certified letter or by a statement signed before the court of the provisions of this section, including the reinstatement fee that the driver's license or driving privileges of the person will be suspended upon a failure to post bond or appear on an issued complaint, summons, or court order or upon a failure to pay assessed fines, costs, or restitution.
 - (2) The suspension continues in effect until the court

notifies the department that the person has paid the reinstatement fee and either appeared in court or paid the assessed fines, costs, or restitution.

(3) The notice required under this section may be included on the summons or complaint and notice to appear form given to the person when charges are initially filed or may be contained in a court order, either hand-delivered to the person while in court or sent by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the most current address for that person received by or on record with the court."

-END-

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT

Page 1 of 1 January 6, 1995

MR. PRESIDENT:

We, your committee on Judiciary having had under consideration SB26 (first reading copy -- white), respectfully report that SB26 be amended as follows and as so amended do pass.

Signed: Senator Bruce Crippen, Chair

That such amendments read:

1. Page 1, line 18. Following: "er"
Insert: "or"

2. Page 1, lines 19 and 20.

Strike: subsection (b) in its entirety

3. Page 1, line 21.

Strike: "(c)"
Insert: "(b)"

4. Page 1, line 26. Following: line 25

Insert: "(3) Based on funding available after the board has funded block grants under subsection (2), the board shall, in cases of extreme hardship in which the transfer of youth court cases to the adult system has placed considerable financial strain on a county's resources, award grants to eligible counties to fund up to 75% of the actual costs of secure detention of youth awaiting transfer. Hardship cases will be addressed at the end of the fiscal year and will be awarded by the board based upon a consideration of the applicant county's past 3 years' expenditures for youth detention and upon consideration of the particular case or cases that created the hardship expenditure for which the hardship grant is requested."

Renumber: subsequent subsection

-END-

Amendments to Senate Bill No.26 First Reading Copy (white)

Requested by Senator Bartlett For the Committee on Judiciary

Prepared by Valencia Lane January 5, 1995

1. Page 1, line 18. Following: "or"
Insert: "or"

2. Page 1, lines 19 and 20.

Strike: subsection (b) in its entirety

3. Page 1, line 21.

Strike: "(c)" Insert: "(b)"

4. Page 1, line 26. Following: line 25

Insert: "(3) Based on funding available after the board has funded block grants under subsection (2), the board shall, in cases of extreme hardship in which the transfer of youth court cases to the adult system has placed considerable financial strain on a county's resources, award grants to eligible counties to fund up to 75% of the actual costs of secure detention of youth awaiting transfer. Hardship cases will be addressed at the end of the fiscal year and will be awarded by the board based upon a consideration of the applicant county's past 3 years' expenditures for youth detention and upon consideration of the particular case or cases that created the hardship expenditure for which the hardship grant is requested."

Renumber: subsequent subsection

Amendments to Senate Bill No.13 First Reading Copy (white)

Requested by Senator Halligan For the Committee on Judiciary

Prepared by Valencia Lane January 5, 1995

1. Title, lines 4 through 6.

Following: ""AN ACT"

Strike: lines 4 though 6 in their entirety

Insert: "REVISING THE MANNER IN WHICH A PERSON IS GIVEN NOTICE THAT THE PERSON'S DRIVER'S LICENSE OR DRIVING PRIVILEGES WILL BE SUSPENDED IF THE PERSON FAILS TO APPEAR IN COURT OR PAY ASSESSED FINES, COSTS, OR RESTITUTION AFTER BEING CITED FOR OR CONVICTED OF A MOTOR VEHICLE VIOLATION; AND AMENDING SECTION 61-5-214, MCA.""

2. Page 1, lines 10 through 25.

Strike: everything following the enacting clause

Insert: "Section 1. Section 61-5-214, MCA, is amended to read:

"61-5-214. Mandatory suspension for failure to appear or pay fine -- notice. (1) The department shall suspend the license or driving privilege of an operator a person immediately upon receipt of a certified copy of a docket page or other sufficient evidence from the court that the operator person:

- (1)(a) is charged with or convicted of a violation of 61 5 302 through 61 5 306, 61 5 309, or chapters 3, 6, 7, 8, 9, or through 10 of this title or is guilty of a criminal offense and was driving or was in actual physical control of a motor vehicle when the offense occurred; and
- (2) (a) (b) (i) failed to post the set bond amount or appear as ordered by the court or appear upon issued complaint, summons, or court order; or
- (b) (ii) failed to forfeit the posted bond amount or, when assessed a fine, costs, or restitution of \$100 or more, failed to pay the fine, costs, or restitution; and
- (3) (c) received prior written notice, evidenced by a signed receipt for a certified letter or by a statement signed before the court of the provisions of this section, including the reinstatement fee that the driver's license or driving privileges of the person will be suspended upon a failure to post bond or appear on an issued complaint, summons, or court order or upon a

failure to pay assessed fines, costs, or restitution.

- (2) The suspension continues in effect until the court notifies the department that the person has paid the reinstatement fee and either appeared in court or paid the assessed fines, costs, or restitution.
- on the summons or complaint and notice to appear form given to the person when charges are initially filed or may be contained in a court order, either hand-delivered to the person while in court or sent by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the most current address for that person received by or on record with the court."

{Internal References to 61-5-214: OK 61-5-215 Ok 61-5-215}

Directors:

Wade Dahood Director Emeritus Monte D. Beck Elizabeth A. Best Michael D. Cok Mark S. Connell Michael W. Cotter Patricia O. Cotter Karl J. Englund Robert S. Fain, Jr. Victor R. Halverson, Jr. Gene R. Jarussi Peter M. Meloy John M. Morrison Gregory S. Munro David R. Paoli Michael E. Wheat



Russell B. Hill, Executive Director #1 N. Last Chance Gulch Helena, Montana 59601 Tel: (406) 443-3124 Fax: (406) 443-7850

January 6, 1995

Officers:

Gregory S. Munro
President
Michael E. Wheat
President-Elect
Gene R. Jarussi
Vice President
John M. Morrison
Secretary-Treasurer
William A. Rossbach
Governor
Paul M. Warren
Governor

	HERIOLARY	00888 1124
1.221	::31	
	1-6-	75
1. 1. 1.0	56 7	7

Sen. Bruce Crippen, Chair Senate Judiciary Committee Room 325, State Capitol Helena, MT 59620

RE: Senate Bill 7

Mr. Chair, Members of the Committee:

Thank you for this opportunity to express MTLA's support for Senate Bill 7, clarifying the original intent of Sections 27-2-205 and 27-6-702, MCA.

Background. The Code Commissioner, in an effort to clarify Montana law, proposed these changes in 1994 to the Joint Interim Subcommittee on Insurance Issues, chaired by Sen. Del Gage. MTLA, the Montana Medical Association, and the Montana Medical Legal Panel endorsed these changes before the interim subcommitteee, agreeing that the changes embody the Legislature's original intent in enacting the statutes.

Senate Bill 7. In addition to non-substantive, stylistic changes to current law, the bill also makes two amendments which deserve the Legislature's attention:

- In Section 1 of the bill, at lines 23 and 24, the word *plaintiff* is replaced with the word *defendant*. Although the new language effects a 180-degree reversal in the literal meaning of the statute and thus appears to prejudice plaintiffs in medical negligence cases, MTLA believes it clarifies the original intent of the Legislature.
- In Section 2 of the bill, at lines 2 and 3, the word in is replaced by the words related to. This change clarifies an important ambiguity in the statute which was at issue in Eisenmenger v. Ethicon, Inc., 51 St.Rep. 296, decided by the Montana Supreme Court last March. That case involved a broken suture which was manufactured and sold by an out-of-state corporation and used by a Montana

surgeon. In short, the patient suffered a stroke and serious complications caused either by (1) defective sutures supplied by the manufacturer or (2) negligence by the surgeon in using the suture.

The patient first filed a lawsuit against Ethicon, then voluntarily dismissed that lawsuit and filed a claim against the surgeon before the Montana Medical Legal Panel, naming Ethicon as an "other necessary and proper party" to that claim. After the panel examined the circumstances surrounding the incident and rendered its decision (and after Ethicon knowingly concealed vital information regarding the surgeon's negligence), the patient again filed a product liability lawsuit against Ethicon. At that point, however, Ethicon argued that the statute of limitations on this claim had expired.

Montana law clearly required the patient to proceed against the surgeon in the Montana Medical Legal Panel before filing a lawsuit. Montana law also clearly tolled the statute of limitations on the medical negligence claim against the surgeon during panel proceedings. But Ethicon argued that the Montana law only tolled the statute of limitation on medical negligence claims and did <u>not</u> toll the statute of limitations on a product liability claim against it.

The Montana Supreme Court, in an opinion written by Chief Justice Jean Turnage, admitted that the language used in Section 27-6-702, MCA, was ambiguous. But the court concluded that the legislative history reflects lawmakers' intent to toll statutes of limitations against medical negligence claims and other claims "related to" medical negligence. Dissenting Justice Nelson urged the Legislature to amend the statute in order to clarify its intent.

In considering the Code Commissioner's recommendations to clarify Section 27-6-702, MCA, the Joint Interim Subcommittee on Insurance Issues also heard testimony from MTLA, the Montana Medical Association, and the Montana Medical Legal Panel regarding the operation of the panel and the serious procedural problems that would arise if claimants--and health care providers--were forced into separate litigation with defendants like Ethicon before the Panel completed its review. The interim subcommittee voted unanimously to recommend the clarification contained in Senate Bill 7.

If MTLA can provide more information or assistance to the Committee, please notify me. Thank you again for this opportunity to express MTLA's support for Senate Bill 7.

Respectfully,

Russell B. Hill, Executive Director

HELEN KIRWIN EISENMENGER, an incapacitated person, by Veronica Eisenmenger, her Guardian and Conservator, Plaintiff, Respondent and Cross-Appellant,

ETHICON, INC., a New Jersey corporation, Defendant and Appellant, JAMES E. MUNGAS and MONTANA DEACONESS MEDICAL CENTER, Defendants and Cross-Respondents.

> No. 93-034. Submitted February 1, 1994. Decided March 24, 1994. 51 St.Rep. 0296. Mont.____ P.2d___

STATUTES - PRODUCT LIABILITY - PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE, Appeal from a \$2.3 million judgment entered against defendant for product liability. The Supreme Court held:

- 1. STATUTES, The tolling provision of section 27-6-702, MCA, applies not only to malpractice claims, but also to actions against all other persons or entities named in the application as necessary or proper parties for any court action arising out of the same facts.
- 2. STATUTES, An ambiguous statute of limitations should be interpreted, in the interest of justice, to allow the longer period in which to prosecute the action.
- 3. PRODUCT LIABILITY, The theory of res ipsa loquitur is not applicable in products liability cases under a strict liability theory.
- 4. PRODUCT LIABILITY, A claim of product defect may be proven by sufficient circumstantial evidence.
- 5. PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE, A complete failure to answer interrogatories or otherwise respond to discovery requests is not required before sanctions are allowed under Rule 37(d), M.R.Civ.P.
- 6. PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE, Defendant's failure to respond to discovery requests was willful and in bad faith; this failure caused severe prejudice to plaintiff on an issue central to the case.
- 7. PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE, The sanction of default judgment enforces due process by preventing

defendant from profiting by its discovery abuse and by assuring due process to the opposing parties whose rights have been prejudiced.

Samuel Commence

Affirmed.

JUSTICE NELSON filed a dissenting opinion in which JUSTICE GRAY joined.

Appeal from the District Court of Cascade County. Eight Judicial District. Honorable R.D. McPhillips, Judge.

For Appellant: Maxon Davis, Cure, Borer & Davis, P.C., Great Falls; Charles F. Preuss, Preuss, Walker & Shanagher, San Francisco, California.

For Respondents: Norman L. Newhall, Alexander, Baucus & Linnell, P.C., Great Falls; Susan J. Rebeck, Susan J. Rebeck, P.C., Great Falls (Eisenmenger); James E. Aiken and Tracy Axelberg, · Jardine, Stephenson, Blewett & Weaver, P.C., Great Falls (Mungas); Neil E. Ugrin, Ugrin, Alexander, Zadick & Slovak, Great Falls, (Montana Deaconess Medical).

CHIEF JUSTICE TURNAGE delivered the Opinion of the Court.

Helen Eisenmenger suffered serious injury after undergoing surgery in which suture material manufactured by defendant Ethion, Inc., was used. She filed this product liability claim against Ethicon in the District Court for the Eighth Judicial District, Cascade County. Ethicon appeals a \$2.3 million judgment entered against it. We affirm.

We restate the dispositive issues as:

- 1. Whether the District Court erred in holding that the statute of limitations for Eisenmenger's product liability claim against Ethicon was tolled by § 27-6-702, MCA.
- 2. Whether the court erred in denying Ethicon's motion for summary judgment.
- 3. Whether the court erred in imposing a default sanction against Ethion on the issue of liability.

On October 30, 1985, Helen Eisenmenger underwent a left carotid endarterectomy at the Montana Deaconess Medical Center (the hospital) in Great Falls, Montana. James E. Mungas, M.D., performed the surgery. The incision in Eisenmenger's left carotid artery was closed using 6-0 Prolene suture material manufactured and sold by Ethicon.

Two days later, while she was resting in her hospital room, Eisenmenger suddenly experienced bleeding in and from the surgical site. She was returned to the operating room, where Dr. Mungas performed a second, emergency surgery to repair a broken suture in

the carotid artery incision. After the second operation, Eisenmenger suffered a stroke and resulting serious complications. There was little doubt that the broken suture caused Eisenmenger's stroke and subsequent complications; the question was what caused the suture to break.

In January 1988, Eisenmenger, through her guardian and conservator, filed a product liability suit against Ethicon in the District Court for Montana's Eighth Judicial District. Ethicon removed the case to federal court based on diversity jurisdiction. That case was eventually voluntarily dismissed, after this action was filed.

On October 27, 1988, again through her guardian and conservator, Eisenmenger filed a malpractice claim with the Montana Medical Legal Panel against Dr. Mungas and the hospital. She named Ethicon as an "other necessary and proper part[y]" to that claim. After the panel rendered its decision, Eisenmenger filed this action on March 30, 1989.

Ethicon promptly moved for summary judgment, arguing that the general three-year tort statute of limitations on the claim against it had run. The court denied Ethicon's motion, holding that § 27-6-702, MCA, tolled the statute of limitations during the Medical Legal Panel's decision-making process and for thirty days thereafter.

Almost three years later, in February 1992, the court entered summary judgment in favor of Dr. Mungas and the hospital, holding that the theory of resipsa loquitur was not applicable to the claims against those defendants and that Eisenmenger had produced no evidence of negligence by those defendants. At the same time, the court denied Ethicon's motion for summary judgment on grounds that it would be premature to rule out the admissibility of circumstantial evidence offered by Eisenmenger to show that there had been a manufacturing defect in the suture.

At the end of March 1992, Eisenmenger deposed Ethicon's witness Dr. Olcott, a professor of surgery at Stanford University. Dr. Olcott's opinions, as stated in his deposition, clearly supported a theory that conduct of Dr. Mungas or the hospital could have been the cause of the suture breakage leading to Eisenmenger's injuries. Ten days later, Eisenmenger filed a motion asking the court to assess sanctions against Ethicon for failure to disclose Dr. Olcott's opinions in response to discovery requests dating back to 1988.

In its order granting Eisenmenger's motion, the court stated that Ethicon had made a "knowing concealment" of Dr. Olcott's testimony, and that, had the court known of Dr. Olcott's testimony it was "very doubtful" that Dr. Mungas's motion for summary

judgment would have been granted. The court concluded Eisenmenger had suffered extreme prejudice due to Ethicon's discovery abuses and that she was entitled to sanctions. It entered a default judgment against Ethicon on the issue of liability.

The case was tried to a jury for purposes of determining the amount of damages. Following the jury's verdict that Eisenmenger's damages totaled \$2,308,155, Ethicon appeals. Eisenmenger and Dr. Mungas have each raised issues on cross-appeal but, as a result of our resolution of the issues raised by Ethicon, we do not reach those issues.

ISSUE 1

Whether the District Court erred in holding that the statute of limitations for Eisenmenger's product liability claim against Ethicon was tolled by § 27-6-702, MCA.

Section 27-6-702, MCA, which is part of the Montana Medical Legal Panel Act (Act), provides:

The running of the applicable limitation period in a malpractice claim is tolled upon receipt by the director of the application for review as to all health care providers named in the application as parties to the panel proceeding and as to all other persons or entities named in the application as necessary or proper parties for any court action which might subsequently arise out of the same factual circumstances set forth in the application.

Ethicon contends § 27-6-702, MCA, tolls the statute of limitations in malpractice claims only, and not in product liability claims such as this one.

Ethicon's position reflects the reference, at the beginning of the statute, to "a malpractice claim." "Malpractice claim" is defined at § 27-6-103(5), MCA, as a claim or potential claim "against a health care provider." "Health care provider" is defined under § 27-6-103(3), MCA, to mean a physician, a dentist, or a health care facility.

Because "malpractice claim" is defined as a claim against a "health care provider," the statement in § 27-6-702, MCA, that the statute of limitations is tolled as to "all health care providers named in the application" addresses most "malpractice claims" as defined in the Act. The only exception initially appears to be malpractice claims against health care providers not named in the application. However, § 27-6-702, MCA, further provides that the tolling applies also "as to all other persons or entities named ... as necessary or proper parties for any court action ... out of the same factual circumstances." We conclude that § 27-6-702, MCA, is ambiguous about the types of claims for which it tolls the statute of limitations.

Eisenmenger v. Ethicon, Inc. 51 St.Rep. 0296

If the plain words of a statute are ambiguous, the next step in judicial interpretation of the statute is to determine the intent of the legislature. Montana Contractors' Ass'n. v. Dept. of Hwys. (1986), 220 Mont. 392, 394, 715 P.2d 1056, 1058. This is accomplished by examining the legislative history of the statute, including the title of the original bill. Montana Contractors' Ass'n., 715 P.2d at 1058; Gaub v. Milbank Ins. Co. (1986), 220 Mont. 424, 428, 715 P.2d 443, 445.

Section 27-6-702, MCA (1983), read:

The running of the applicable limitation period in a malpractice claim is tolled upon receipt by the director of the application for review and does not begin again until 30 days after the panel's final decision is entered in the permanent files of the panel and a copy is served upon the complainant and his attorney by certified mail.

(Enacted 17-1314 by Sec. 14, Ch. 449, L. 1977.) The 1985 amendment to § 27-6-702, MCA, added the following language to the first sentence of the statute:

as to all health care providers named in the application as parties to the panel proceeding and as to all other persons or entities named in the application as necessary or proper parties for any court action which might subsequently arise out of the same factual circumstances set forth in the application. [Emphasis added.]

The 1985 amendment to § 27-6-702, MCA, unquestionably created the ambiguity with which we are faced.

The title to the 1985 amending act and the explanation offered with the proposed amendment to § 27-6-702, MCA, are instructive. The title to the amending act stated:

AN ACT REVISING THE MONTANA MEDICAL LEGAL PANEL ACT BY CLARIFYING THE DEFI-NITIONS OF "HEALTH CARE FACILITY," "MAL-PRACTICE CLAIM." AND "PHYSICIAN;" CLARIFYING THE ALLOCATION OF ASSESS-MENTS AND DETERMINATION OF ASSESS-MENTS; PROVIDING FOR A LATE FEE FOR DELINQUENT ASSESSMENTS; CLARIFYING THE COMPOSITION OF THE PANEL; CLARIFY-ING THE TOLLING OF THE STATUTE OF LIMI-TATIONS AGAINST PARTIES NOT PARTIES TO THE CLAIM AND PROVIDING FOR DISMISSAL OF CLAIMS AND THE RUNNING OF THE STAT-UTE OF LIMITATIONS; AMENDING SECTIONS 27-6-103, 27-6-206, 27-6-301, 27-6-303, 27-6-401, AND 27-6-702, MCA; AND PROVIDING AN IMME-DIATE EFFECTIVE DATE. [Emphasis supplied.]

Ch. 332, L. 1985. The explanation offered by the Montana Medical Legal Panel for the proposed amendment was:

The current statute is unclear as to whether the statute does or does not toll as to those not parties to the panel, such as nurses, under circumstances where physicians in the same matter are brought before the panel. The proposed legislation clarifies this, providing for the tolling of the statute as to all those parties named in the application, whether proper health care providers before the panel or not.

Exhibit D to minutes of House Judiciary Committee, February 19, 1985.

[1,2] The legislative history of § 27-6-702, MCA, supports the conclusion that the tolling provision applies not only to malpractice claims, as argued by Ethicon, but also to actions against all other persons or entities named in the application as necessary or proper parties for any court action arising out of the same facts. This conclusion is further supported by the rule that an ambiguous statute of limitations should be interpreted, in the interest of justice, to allow the longer period in which to prosecute the action. See James v. Buck (Idaho 1986), 727 P.2d 1136, 1138 (citing cases from Alaska, Hawaii, Arizona, and Utah). We note that Ethicon has long had notice of its alleged liability in this action, minimizing any surprise or prejudice to it from the interpretation we now give to § 27-6-702, MCA.

In this case, the application for review of claim which Eisenmenger filed with the Montana Medical Legal Panel listed Ethicon as an "other necessary and proper part[y]." We hold that the District Court did not err in ruling that the statute of limitations was tolled as against Ethicon.

ISSUE 2

Whether the court erred in denying Ethicon's motion for summary judgment.

This Court's standard of review of a ruling on a motion for summary judgment is the same as a district court's standard in ruling on such a motion: whether the record discloses genuine issues of material fact, and, if not, whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), M.R.Civ.P.; Knight v. City of Missoula (1992), 252 Mont. 232, 243, 827 P.2d 1270, 1276.

[3] Ethicon contends that Eisenmenger and the District Court improperly relied on the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur in opposing and denying its motion for summary judgment. Ethicon correctly states that the theory of res ipsa loquitur is not applicable in products liability cases under a strict liability theory. Rix v. General Motors Corp. (1986), 222 Mont. 318, 332, 723

P.2d 195, 204. But neither the District Court nor Eisenmenger relied solely on that theory. They also relied upon a theory of strict liability.

[4] Eisenmenger admits that, at the time Ethicon moved for summary judgment, she had no direct evidence that the suture which broke was defective. However, she maintains she had sufficient circumstantial evidence that the suture was defective to preclude summary judgment. A claim of product defect may be proven by circumstantial evidence. Brandenburger v. Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A., Inc. (1973), 162 Mont. 506, 517, 513 P.2d 268, 274.

The broken suture was thrown away during Eisenmenger's second surgery. As pointed out in Eisenmenger's brief opposing Ethicon's motion for summary judgment, the only direct evidence concerning the break in this suture was Dr. Mungas's deposition testimony that the suture broke at its midpoint, or between the knots. Eisenmenger cites evidence it produced that, if stress is applied to a nondefective suture, the suture will break at the knot, rather than between the knots. Thus, Eisenmenger argues, the testimony of Dr. Mungas was evidence that the suture was either defective or mishandled. All of the persons assisting with the surgery denied having observed or done anything that damaged or otherwise compromised the suture. No direct evidence was produced to contradict their testimony, and their credibility on this issue is a question of fact.

Eisenmenger also points to circumstantial evidence she marshalled concerning other incidents of failure of Ethicon's Prolene 6-0 suture material. Ethicon argues that this evidence is inadmissible. However, in denying Ethicon's motion for summary judgment, the District Court stated that it had not yet determined whether all of the evidence of other incidents of suture failure would be admissible. All reasonable inferences from the offered proof are to be drawn in favor of the party opposing summary judgment. Reaves v. Reinbold (1980), 189 Mont. 284, 287, 615 P.2d 896, 898.

We hold that the court did not err in ruling that Eisenmenger demonstrated issues of material fact precluding the entry of summary judgment in favor of Ethicon.

ISSUE 3

Whather the court erred in imposing a default sanction against Ethicon on the issue of liability.

Eisenmenger's motion for sanctions was made under Rule 37(d), M.R.Civ.P., which authorizes a district court to award sanctions:

if a party ... fails (1) to appear before the officer who is to take the deposition, after being served with a

proper notice, or (2) to serve answers or objections to interrogatories submitted under Rule 33, after proper service of the interrogatories, or (3) to serve a written response to a request for inspection submitted under Rule 34, after proper service of the request[.]

Ethicon urges that subsection (d) would apply only if it had failed *completely* to answer interrogatories. In support of its position, it cites several cases decided under Rule 37(b), Fed.R.Civ.P. The value of those cases as precedent is distinctly limited because they were decided under a different subsection of the federal, not the state, rule.

[5] In Vehrs v. Piquette (1984), 210 Mont. 386, 684 P.2d 476, this Court affirmed Rule 37(d) sanctions for unsigned, late, not-fully-responsive answers to interrogatories. Therefore, a complete failure to answer interrogatories or otherwise respond to discovery requests is not required before sanctions are allowed under Rule 37(d), M.R.Civ.P. We conclude the District Court had the power to award sanctions in this case. We next examine whether the sanction of default judgment was justified.

In Audit Services v. Kraus Construction, Inc. (1980), 189 Mont. 94, 615 P.2d 183, this Court quoted with approval and applied the following standard for entering a default judgment as a sanction under Rule 37, M.R.Civ.P.:

[T]he default judgment must normally be viewed as available only when the adversary process has been halted because of an essentially unresponsive party. In that instance, the diligent party must be protected lest he be faced with interminable delay and continued uncertainty as to his rights. The default judgment remedy serves as such a protection. Furthermore, the possibility of a default is a deterrent to those parties who choose delay as part of their litigative strategy[.][Citation omitted.]

Audit Services, 615 P.2d at 187-88. Ethicon cites Audit Services as authority that default judgment is proper only when there has been a complete failure to respond to discovery requests. But the last sentence quoted above supports a broader interpretation allowing default judgment as a sanction for other severe and deliberate discovery abuse.

Our standard of review of sanctions imposed for discovery abuses is whether the district court abused its discretion. First Bank (N.A.) - Billings v. Heidema (1986), 219 Mont. 373, 711 P.2d 1384. In discussing the district courts' ability to decide when sanctions are appropriate and how severe those sanctions should be, this Court has said:

This Court has addressed the imposition of Rule 37, M.R.Civ.P., sanctions several times in the recent past. The primary thread binding each of those decisions is the deference this Court gives to the decision of the trial judges. ... The trial judge is in the best position to know ... which parties callously disregard the rights of their opponents and other litigants seeking their day in court. The trial judge is also in the best position to determine which sanction is the most appropriate.

Dassori v. Ray Stanley Chevrolet Co. (1986), 224 Mont. 178, 179-80, 728 P.2d 430, 431.

In his March 1992 deposition, Dr. Olcott testified concerning eight problems he saw with the Eisenmenger case: (1) that Dr. Mungas used a "substandard technique" of tying the suture; (2 and 3) that there was no indication for the first surgery performed, either by symptoms or the results of the arteriogram; (4) the arteriogram and the operation should not have both been done on the same day; (5) in the second operation, Heparin was wrongly given after, not before, clamps were applied; (6) in the second operation, the arteriotomy was not completely reopened; (7) a patch was not used in redoing the arteriotomy; and (8) there was inappropriate monitoring during and following the second surgery. Dr. Olcott testified he was given the Eisenmenger case for review sometime in 1988 and that he advised Ethicon's counsel, "in general," of his opinions on these eight problems "in 1988."

In June 1990, by which date Dr. Olott clearly had informed Ethicon's counsel of his opinion, Ethicon answered detailed discovery requests by Eisenmenger. Ethicon's answers were described by the District Court in its sanction order as "incomplete and evasive." Ethicon objected to an interrogatory about whether it took the position that Dr. Mungas failed to take the necessary precautions in using the suture, on grounds that the term "necessary precautions" was undefined. Ethion stated that it was "unable to respond" to interrogatories about whether it contended that Dr. Mungas improperly tied the suture or that any act or omission of Dr. Mungas or an employee of the hospital caused or contributed to Eisenmenger's stroke. Ethion further stated that it was "unable to comment on the specifics of Dr. Mungas' handling of the suture and the role of that handling in explaining the suture failure."

In answer to an interrogatory asking it to set forth "each factor which you contend substantially contributed" to Eisenmenger's post-operative stroke, Ethicon responded:

Many factors may contribute including age, history, smoking, general physical condition, wound

dehiscence, and post-operative complications among many other possible factors. Ethicon intends to examine these as well as all other possibilities and may, depending on the outcome, offer expert medical opinion on this subject.

Dr. Olcott's name was first disclosed as a potential expert witness who might be called at trial on August 30, 1991. On December 9, 1991, Ethicon and its attorney made the following discovery responses:

Interrogatory No. 1: Is it your contention that Defendant James E. Mungas caused or contributed to the injuries or damages allegedly suffered or sustained by the Plaintiff, as more fully described in her Complaint? If so, please set forth with particularity and in detail:

- (a) each and every fact supporting this contention;
- (b) the identity of any and all persons who could or would testify as to the truthfulness of this contention; and
- (c) the identity of all writings, notes, letter, records, or any other document which could or would support the truthfulness of this contention.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 1: (a) Based on its investigation of the postoperative dehiscence experienced by plaintiff following her surgery in October 1985, Ethicon contends that such dehiscence was not due to any inherent property of PROLENE* suture material or to Ethicon's manufacturing procedures or labeling information, but rather to inadvertent suture damage or mishandling during its use, the precise nature of which is unavoidably unknown to Ethicon, by one of the individuals present in the operating room at the time of surgery, or to the surgical technique employed by one of those same individuals. Ethicon exercised no control over the suture after it left Ethicon's facility. Ethicon was not present during the time the suture was received, stored and handled by personnel from MDMC prior to its use during the surgery in question. Ethicon was not present in the operating room either during the initial operative procedure or the arteriotomy repair, when the suture was handled by operating room personnel, including Dr. Mungas, on multiple occasions and came into contact with a variety of surgical instruments. Because the suture utilized in the initial closure of the arteriotomy was thrown away by Mr. [sic] Mungas, MDMC employees or other operating room personnel, Ethicon was deprived of the opportunity to examine this crucial piece of evidence, from which the cause of the dehiscence could be obtained. Moreover, because Dr. Mungas, MDMC employees or other operating room personnel did not keep track of the lot number from which the suture in question came, Ethion was further deprived of the opportunity to demonstrate that such lot in particular met with Ethicon's manufacturing and quality control/quality assurance specifications in every respect. Thus, although Dr. Mungas was among those present in the operating room whose suture handling or surgical technique may have inadvertently caused or contributed to plaintiff's damages, or who, directly or indirectly, may have inadvertently mishandled, misused, altered or otherwise changed the suture material in question, Ethicon cannot say that Dr. Mungas was the sole individual responsible for the dehiscence. Nevertheless, no PROLENE* 6/0 suture material returned to Ethion following an alleged postoperative dehiscence has failed to meet USP or Ethicon specifications, and Ethicon is of the opinion that the suture in this case was within USP and Ethicon specifications and has no present information or evidence to the contrary.

- (b) All the individuals disclosed in the medical records or known to plaintiff and to Ethicon's co-defendants as well as those individuals disclosed in Ethicon's responses to the parties' discovery requests and/or the depositions of Ethicon's employees in this case.
- (c) All written information produced or discovered in this case by all parties or available to the parties in the medical and scientific literature.

On the same date, Ethicon answered an interrogatory requesting information concerning the substance of and supporting facts for any expert opinions concerning mishandling, misuse, or alteration of the suture material by Dr. Mungas. In its response, Ethicon merely referred to the above answer and to its expert witness disclosure, which set forth only the names of the experts. It provided no further information.

Summary judgment was entered in favor of Dr. Mungas and the hospital some six months after Ethicon disclosed Dr. Olcott as an expert witness. During those months, Ethicon did not update its discovery responses to disclose Dr. Olcott's opinions, despite its clear duty to do so under Rule 26(e), M.R.Civ.P. Dr. Olcott was not made available to be deposed until a month after Dr. Mungas and the hospital had been dismissed from this lawsuit. By that time, severe prejudice had already occurred to Eisenmenger, and the court had few options for appropriate and meaningful sanctions against Ethicon. As the court stated, it was "very doubtful" that Dr. Mungas's motion for summary judgment would have been made or granted if Dr. Olcott's opinion had been disclosed. Ethicon's

discovery abuses therefore directly interfered with a correct decision in the case.

Ethicon also argues that the evidence it withheld only inculpated Dr. Mungas, and that withholding the evidence did not prejudice Eisenmenger's case against Ethicon. However, as the District Court recognized and Ethicon admits, Ethicon would, if allowed, seek to use the concealed evidence at trial as relevant to causation. The concealed evidence clearly went to the heart of Ethicon's defense to Eisenmenger's claim.

This is not a situation where the "wrong" questions were asked in discovery and the critical answers were thereafter artfully avoided. There was nothing more which could have been asked in order to elicit from Ethicon the substance of Dr. Oloott's opinion. We conclude that the above answers to interrogatories and the failure to supplement the same demonstrate intolerable gamesmanship and obstructiveness on the part of Ethicon. Playing loose and fast with the rules of discovery, in the guise of advocacy, is equivalent to playing Russian roulette with only one chamber empty — it cannot be relied upon to lead to a favorable result.

[6] The record supports the District Court's finding that Ethicon's failure to respond to discovery requests was willful and in bad faith. This failure caused severe prejudice to Eisenmenger on an issue central to the case. We hold that the District Court did not abuse its discretion in imposing the sanction of default judgment on the issue of liability.

Finally, Ethicon contends it was deprived of its right to due process through entry of the default judgment as a sanction. It argues that Securities and Exchange Commission v. Seaboard Corp. (9th Cir. 1982), 666 F.2d 414, establishes that due process allows a sanction of default judgment only in response to a complete failure to produce requested evidence. We disagree. The basis for the holding in Seaboard was that the sanction in that case was imposed for failure to obey a court order to pay a fine arising out of discovery violations. The discovery requests had been complied with by the time sanctions were imposed. Seaboard, 666 F.2d at 417. In contrast, Ethicon never fairly answered the discovery requests at issue here.

Ethicon also claims due process requires that default judgment as a sanction for discovery at se is only proper if the refusal to respond to discovery requests gives rise to a presumption that the party had no evidence on the point in question, citing Hammond Packing Co. v. Arkansas (1909), 212 U.S. 322, 29 S.Ct. 370, 53 L.Ed. 530. Hammond does not establish such a blanket rule. The holding therein that the creation of such a presumption meets the requirements of due process is not equivalent to a holding

Eisenmenger v. Ethicon, Inc. 51 St.Rep. 0296

that the creation of such a presumption is required for purposes of due process.

[7] Due process requires that default may not be imposed absent willfulness, bad faith, or fault. Societe Internationale v. Rogers (1958), 357 U.S. 197, 212, 78 S.Ct. 1087, 1096, 2 L.Ed.2d 1255, 1267. Here, as stated above, the court found that Ethicon's actions in giving evasive and incomplete answers to discovery requests and in failing to supplement those answers "have been willful and in bad faith." In this case, the sanction of default judgment enforces due process by preventing Ethicon from profiting by its discovery abuse and by assuring due process to the opposing parties whose rights have been prejudiced. We hold that Ethicon's due process rights were not violated when the court ordered a sanction of default judgment on the issue of liability.

Affirmed.

JUSTICES HARRISON, TRIEWEILER, HUNT and WEBER concur.

JUSTICE NELSON respectfully dissents from the Court's opinion on Issue 1 and, consistent with that position, does not reach Issues 2 or 3.

While I acknowledge that the legislature's amendments to § 27-6-702, MCA, in 1985, created an ambiguity, I submit that we have erroneously resolved that ambiguity on the basis of what we perceive to be the intention of the legislature as derived from a legislative history that is, at best, inconclusive. In so doing, I suggest that we have impermissibly inserted into the tolling provisions of the statute by implication, a class of claims that the legislature did not include by specific language or, in default of that, by a clearly expressed intention. Section 1-2-101, MCA.

In order to fully appreciate what the 1985 amendment did and did not accomplish, it is necessary to examine the amended § 27-6-702, MCA (1987), in the context of the entire Montana Medical Legal Panel Act (Act), rather than focusing, as does the Court's opinion, on simply the statute itself.¹

Section 27-6-102, MCA, defines the purpose of the Act as follows:

The purpose of this chapter is to prevent where possible the filing in court of actions against health care providers and their employees for professional liability in situations where the facts do not permit at least a reasonable inference of malpractice and to make possible the fair and equitable disposition of such claims against

health care providers as are or reasonably may be well founded.

Section 27-6-103, MCA, defines various terms used in the Act. Of importance here are the following:

- (2) "Health care facility" means a facility ... licensed as a health care facility under Title 50, chapter 5.
- (3) "Health care provider" means a physician, a dentist, or a health care facility.
- (4) "Hospital" means a hospital as defined in 50-5-101.
- (5) "Malpractice claim" means any claim or potential claim of a claimant against a health care provider for medical or dental treatment, lack of medical or dental treatment, or other alleged departure from accepted standards of health care which proximately results in damage to the claimant, whether the claimant's claim or potential claim sounds in tort or contract, and includes but is not limited to allegations of battery or wrongful death.
- (7) "Physician" means: [in pertinent part] (a)...an individual licensed to practice medicine under the provisions of Title 37, chapter 3, ...

Section 27-6-105, MCA, provides, in pertinent part, that:

The [Montana Medical legal] panel shall review all malpractice claims or potential claims against health care providers

Section 27-6-302, MCA, provides, in pertinent part, that:

The application [to the panel] shall contain the following: (1) a statement in reasonable detail of the elements of the health care provider's conduct which are believed to constitute a malpractice claim, the dates the conduct occurred, and the names and addresses of all physicians, dentists, and hospitals having contact with the claimant and all witnesses; ...

Section 27-6-304, MCA, provides, in pertinent part, that:

¹Unless otherwise specifically mentioned, all statutory references to the Act are to the 1987 version, since that is the version that was in effect when Eisenmenger filed her malpractice claim with the panel and when she filed her second complaint against Ethicon. Also, all emphasis in the cited statutes has been supplied by the author.

In instances where applications are received employing a theory of respondent superior or some other derivative theory of recovery, the director shall forward the application to the state professional societies, associations, or licensing boards of both the individual health care provider whose alleged malpractice caused the application to be filed and the health care provider named a respondent as employer, master, or principal.

Section 27-6-502, MCA, provides, in pertinent part, that:

(1) At the time set for hearing, the claimant submitting the case for review shall be present and shall make a brief introduction of his case, including a resume of the facts constituting the alleged professional malpractice which he is prepared to prove. The health care provider against whom the claim is brought and his attorney may be present and may make an introductory statement of his case.

Section 27-6-602, MCA, provides, in pertinent part, that:

Upon consideration of all the relevant material, the panel shall decide whether there is: (1) substantial evidence that the acts complained of occurred and that they constitute malpractice; ...

Section 27-6-701, MCA, provides that:

No malpractice claim may be filed in any court against a health care provider before an application is made to the panel and its decision is rendered.

Section 27-6-702, MCA, provides in pertinent part:

The running of the applicable limitation period in a malpractice claim is tolled upon receipt by the director of the application for review as to all health care providers named in the application as parties to the panel proceeding and as to all other persons or entities named in the application as necessary or proper parties for any court action which might subsequently arise out of the same factual circumstances set forth in the application. The running of the applicable limitation period in a malpractice claim does not begin again until 30 days after either an order of dismissal, with or without prejudice against refiling, is issued from the panel chairman, or from the director upon the consent of the parties to the claim, or the panel's final decision, whichever occurs first, is entered in the permanent files of the panel and a copy is served upon the complainant or his attorney if he is represented by counsel, by certified mail.

Reading the plain language in the Act, without referring to any past or recent legislative history, and using the terms of art as those are defined in the Act, several conclusions follow:

First, the purpose of the Act is to screen and prevent the filing in court of ill-founded claims for professional acts or omissions against health care providers, which are defined to include only (i) physicians, (ii) dentists and (iii) licensed facilities. Sections 27-6-102, 27-6-103(2), (3) and (7), MCA. Ethicon, being none of those, is not an entity subject to the protection of the A.t.

Second, the professional act or omission (regardless of whether the theory is tort or contract) which is to be screened is "malpractice" -- a term of art, defined in the Act as a claim or potential claim for medical treatment or other alleged departure from accepted standards of health care. Section 27-6-103(5), MCA.

The act or omission alleged to have been committed by Ethicon does not involve providing medical treatment or health care. Ethicon is alleged to have improperly manufactured a product -- specifically, a surgical suture.

Third, the panel can only consider, hear and rule upon malpractice claims filed against health care providers. Sections 27-6-105, 27-6-302, 27-6-304, 27-6-502, 27-6-602, MCA. Ethicon is neither an entity subject to the jurisdiction of the panel, nor are its alleged acts or omissions subject to panel review, as defined in the Act.

Fourth, claimants are required to submit their claim or potential claim for "malpractice" against a "health care provider" to the panel before filing the claim in court. Sections 27-6-301, 27-6-302 and 27-6-701, MCA. There is nothing in the Act, however, to preclude a claimant from filing a related products liability suit in court at any time within the applicable statute of limitations, since the panel has no jurisdiction or review authority over any sorts of claims, except malpractice claims.

Fifth, the tolling of the statute of limitations under § 27-6-702, MCA, obviously applies to a "... malpractice claim ... as to all [named] health care providers...". Moreover, under the 1985 amendment, the statute of limitations is also tolled as to "... all other persons or entities named in the application as necessary or proper parties for any court action which might subsequently arise out of the same factual circumstances set forth in the application." Section 27-6-702, MCA. The critical question is, however, "for what claim is the statute of limitations tolled?"

To answer that question, it is necessary to read the phrase added by the 1985 amendment in the context of the existing qualifying language of the statute both

304

before and after the added phrase. First, the only "claim" that is referred to in § 27-6-702, MCA, (and, in fact, the only "claim" referred to in the entire Act) is the claim for "malpractice," a defined term of art — which Ethicon, by that definition, cannot commit.

Second, according to § 27-6-702, MCA, the malpractice claim is tolled:

- (i) as to "health care providers," which, again, is a defined term of art which does not include Ethicon; and
- (ii) "as to all other persons or entities named in the application as necessary or proper parties" -- which Ethicon could be, if it could commit "malpractice" as defined by the Act.

Third, while the "court action which might subsequently arise out of the same factual circumstances" might, arguably, include a products liability claim, again, the only claim for which the statute of limitations is tolled is the malpractice claim. That conclusion is buttressed by the sentence which immediately follows the phrase added in 1985 which states that "[t]he running of the applicable limitation period in a malpractice claim does not begin again until 30 days after...". Section 27-6-702, MCA. Since the statute is very specific about when the statute of limitations on the malpractice claim begins to run again, it begs the question, assuming arguendo that claims besides the malpractice claim are tolled, when the statute of limitations on those latter claims begins to run after the panel's decision. The statute is silent on that point.

Therein lies the ambiguity. Section 27-6-702, MCA, does not specify any other claim, besides the malpractice claim, for which the statute of limitations is tolled, nor does it refer to any other claim, besides the malpractice claim, on which the applicable limitation period begins to run again after the 30 days specified in the statute has elapsed.

From a plain reading of the entire Act, in context and without resort to legislative history, one necessarily concludes that the Act, including its tolling provisions, only applies to malpractice claims involving health care providers.

What, then, did the 1985 amendment accomplish? It is an established rule of statutory construction that we presume that the legislature would not pass meaningless legislation, and that we must harmonize statutes relating to the same subject, giving effect to each. Montana Contractors' Ass'n, Inc. v. Department of Highways (1986), 220 Mont. 392, 395, 715 P.2d 1056, 1058. Furthermore, § 1-2-101, MCA, mandates that "[w]here there are several provisions or particulars, [in a statute] such a construction is, if possible, to be adopted as will give effect to all." Hence, the need to

resort to legislative history. Under the Court's rationale, there is no other way to give effect to the added language, absent giving it the construction which this Court has on the basis of what we perceive to be the intent of the legislature as gathered from the legislative history.

Were the legislature's intent clear, I would agree with the Court's interpretation of the statute. I do not concede, however, that the legislative history is as clearly indicative of the legislature's intent in enacting the 1985 amendments as our opinion seems to suggest.

Literally, the only group of persons actually referred to in the legislative history to HB 738 (enacted as Ch. 332, L. 1985) as being included within the added tolling language, are nurses -- who, according to the legislative history, did not want to be covered by the panel. See minutes of the House Judiciary Committee hearing on HB 738, February 19, 1985. There is no discussion in the history as to what sorts of claims the legislature intended would be covered under the added tolling language. The Act itself is silent as to who or what are "necessary or proper parties for any court action which might subsequently arise out of the same factual circumstances set forth in the application." Section 27-6-702, MCA. It can hardly be denied that the "factual circumstances" before the panel deal with malpractice. At most, it appears that the legislature arguably intended to toll the statute of limitations as to employees of the health care provider, e.g. nurses.

If it was the legislature's intention, by enacting the additional phraseology in § 27-6-702, MCA, to bring persons or entities other than health care providers within the tolling provisions of the statute, then the legislature merely needed to broaden the scope of the statute to include claims other than malpractice claims. Unfortunately, it failed to do that.

What the legislature did was change only one part of the statute — it expanded the tolling provisions of the statute to include "...other persons or entities named in the application as necessary or proper parties...", but it left the only claims tolled as being those in "malpractice" which, by definition, cannot be committed for purposes of the Act by persons or entities who are not physicians, dentists and health care facilities.

On balance, given the existing qualifying language preceding and following the language which was added by the legislature in 1985 to § 27-6-702, MCA; reading that section in the context of the entire Act; and given that the 1985 legislature made a number of other changes in the Act, it seems more appropriate to conclude that if the legislature intended to include

all parties and all claims within the tolling provisions of the statute, that it would have made the necessary changes in other provisions of the Act to clearly effect that intention which we now find implicit in the legislative history. I have difficulty in reading into the statute language which broadens the types of claims tolled on the basis of divining legislative intent from a legislative history that is, at best, inconclusive.

It should be apparent that the statutory amendment suffers from some major drafting flaws which provide a trap for the unwary. Plaintiff understandably relied on what the statute, at quick perusal, seems to say. Similarly, Ethicon can hardly be faulted for reading the statute with a great deal more care than that with which the amendment was drafted.

But for the District Court's and this Court's generous interpretation of the amended language to give effect to what is the perceived legislative intent behind the 1985 amendment, plaintiff would be out of court. The Court's interpretation of the statute saves plaintiff's case, but the language added to § 27-6-702, MCA, still remains ambiguous, confusing and out of context with other provisions of the Act.

Hopefully, § 27-6-702, MCA, will be further amended and the legislature's intent, whatever that actually is, will be made clearly evident in the language of the statute itself.

JUSTICE GRAY joins in the foregoing dissent.

DATE 1-6-95	
SENATE COMMITTEE ON Judiciary	• •••
BILLS BEING HEARD TODAY: 58 7, 58 13	
•	

< ■ > PLEASE PRINT < ■ >

Check One

Name	Representing	Bill No.	Support	Oppose
W James Kembel	City of Billings	SB13	V	
CRAIG READ	MHP	SB 13	<u></u>	
Scott RESTUSOT	RAIL BOND ASSOC	5813	./	
Dean Crow	Bail Bond Asse	5313	1992	-
charles & Brooks	Yellow stone county	513-13	4	
EARL ROWE	BAIL BONDS	SB-13	V	
Bab Gilbert	BALL BONDS MT.M AGIZFANTES ASSN.	5813	\ \mathref{1}	,
Brenda Nordhus-	DOJ Explanation	w		
Some Typerdout	M. Med. assig	57	1	
Kussell B Hill	MTZA	987	V	

VISITOR REGISTER